
    

Constitution Committee

Monday 15 October 2018 at 3.00 pm

Members' Room - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

To note any apologies for absence.

Andrea Griffiths

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 11 June 2018.

Andrea Griffiths

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.  The closing 
date/time for receipt of questions is 10.00am on Monday 8 
October 2018.  

Andrea Griffiths

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 
for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on Monday 8 October 
2018.

Andrea Griffiths

5  OPEN CONTRACTING ADVISORY GROUP (Pages 5 - 58)

To receive the final report of the Open Contracting Advisory Group.

Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou

6  FRIENDLY AMENDMENTS (Pages 59 - 60)

In light of the full Council meeting on 27 June 2018, to consider the 
process for dealing with ‘friendly amendments’ at full Council. 

The relevant section of the Council’s Constitution is attached.

Cllr Paul 
Hodgkinson

7  REFERRALS TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (Pages 61 - 64) Cllr Colin Hay



    

To consider the process for dealing with ‘motions that call for an 
item to be referred to a scrutiny committee.  

The relevant section of the Council’s Constitution is attached.
8  MONITORING OFFICER CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION (Pages 

65 - 72)

To note the attached reports. 

Jane Burns

Membership –  Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE (Chair), Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr John Payne, Cllr Rachel Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Ray Theodoulou and 
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE

Minutes of the Constitution Committee held at Shire Hall., Gloucester on Monday, 11 June 
2018 at 3pm.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Lynden Stowe

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Roger Wilson
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge, and Monitoring 
Officer
Gillian Parkinson, Head of Legal Services
Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Nigel Moor and Cllr 
Rachel Smith

60. ELECTION OF CHAIR 

RESOLVED that Cllr Mark Hawthorne be elected to the position of Chair of the 
Constitution Committee for the 2018-19 Civic Year.

61. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

Cllr Colin Hay and Cllr Ray Theodoulou were proposed for the position of Vice-
Chair of the Constitution Committee.

On being put to the vote, it was 

RESOLVED that Cllr Ray Theodoulou be elected to the position of Vice-Chair of the 
Constitution Committee for the 2018-19 Civic Year.

62. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 March 2018 were confirmed and signed as a 
correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

63. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions had been received.

64. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No member questions had been received.

65. AMENDMENTS TO MOTIONS 

At the full Council meeting on 16 May 2018, Cllr Colin Hay had requested that the 
Constitution Committee to consider the procedural standing orders relating to 
amendments.

Cllr Hay explained that he had made the request because he was concerned at the 
way in which motion 812 relating to Police funding had been amended.  He 
recognised that it was the Chair’s judgement on the validity of an amendment but 
he believed that in this particular case a completely new proposal had been put 
forward.  He said that the amendment had changed the intent of the motion to such 
an extent that the original proposer and seconder were unable to support it.  He 
noted that a member could only withdraw a motion they had moved with the 
consent of full Council and the seconder. 

Another member referred to motion 809 relating to Gloucestershire roads at the 
same meeting of full Council .  He  stated that the wording of the whole of the 
original motion had been lost as a result of an amendment put forward. He believed 
that it was against the spirit of an amendment if a motion was changed to that 
extent.  

The Chair noted that the subject matter of each motion had not been changed and 
the purpose of the amendments was to achieve a similar outcome.  He said that if 
motions were critical of the controlling political group then it was unreasonable not 
to expect that group to put forward amendments to allow the views of its members 
to be expressed.

Some members questioned what alternative there was to the current arrangements.  
They said that if the controlling group simply voted against a motion then should it 
put forward a new proposal to be voted on at the next meeting? They believed that 
if a motion was political then it was likely that the controlling group would wish to 
propose an amendment.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Another member stated that the purpose of a motion was to bring a particular issue 
to the attention of the Council and to allow a debate on that matter.  He said that an 
amendment should not detract from the overall theme of the original motion.  He felt 
that the amendments made to the Police funding and Gloucestershire roads 
motions at the last full Council meeting did not reflect the original intent of the 
motions.   

It was recognised that more could be done to share amendments ahead of 
meetings and it was hoped that this could be facilitated through Group Leaders and 
the Political Research Assistants.  There would inevitably still be some occasions 
when it would not be possible to reach agreement.  The increasing length of 
motions was a growing concern and it was hoped that steps could be taken to make 
them shorter and more focused.  Political comments could be made as part of the 
debate in the Council Chamber..  

On a wider point, the Chair agreed that there was some merit in looking at the 
content of the Council agenda and he requested that this be included as an item for 
consideration at the next meeting of the committee.  

66. CHANGES TO THE EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT 

Consideration was given to a report relating to changes to the Employee Code of 
Conduct.  Jane Burns, the Monitoring Officer, explained that she had made a 
commitment to review the code on a regular basis.  She advised that the code 
would be promoted to ensure that all staff had appropriate guidance on how the 
Council and the public expected them to behave.

Members were anxious that, whenever possible, staff wore their official identity 
badge when they were undertaking Council duties.  They requested that the 
wording of paragraph 6 of the code be strengthened.

Referring to paragraph 81, they asked for more information on the circumstances 
when a member of staff might be undertaking fee paying work partly during normal 
working hours.

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the revised Employee of 
Conduct be approved subject to:

a) Paragraph 6 – Amending the second sentence to read ‘Staff are expected to 
wear their official Gloucestershire County Council identity badge on Council 
premises and when on official business out of the office.’

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

b) Paragraph 81 – Requesting the Monitoring Officer to seek further information 
from Human Resources relating to the circumstances in which a member of 
staff undertakes fee paying work partly during normal working hours. 

67. MONITORING OFFICER CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION 

Jane Burns, the Monitoring Officer, explained that the Constitution had been 
revised to reflect the request at the committee meeting held on 12 March 2018 for 
gender neutral language.  She noted that this approach was being followed in the 
way that members were referred to in Council papers and documents.  She asked 
that members let her know if they were aware of any examples where this was not 
the case.   

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND THAT THE COUNCIL ratify the changes to 
Constitution, relating to the use of gender neutral language, made by the Monitoring 
Officer under delegated powers.

The meeting ended at 3.50pm

CHAIR

Page 4



1 
 

  

 

Open Contracting Advisory Group 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 A motion regarding open contracting was presented to the Council on 7 

December 2016.  As the motion related to changes to the constitution it 

was referred to the Constitution Committee on 16 January 2017.  The 

Constitution Committee agreed that an advisory group should be 

established after the May 2017 election to assess the implications of the 

Council adopting open contracting principles. The full text of the motion is 

shown at Appendix 1. 

 

1.2 The members of the Constitution Committee subsequently signed off the 

terms of reference for the advisory group.  Please refer to Appendix 2.   

The ambitions of the task group were to: 

 Consider the current arrangements for publishing contract details within 

the Council. 

 Seek expert advice on best practice relating to openness and 

transparency in respect of contracting. 

 Understand the views of the commercial sector on open contracting 

 Understand other local authority practices relating to openness in 

contracts. 

 Assess the costs and other implications of any changes to the current 

arrangements on the Council. 

 

1.3 Membership of the advisory group 

Councillors Phil Awford, Iain Dobie, Rachel Smith, Lynden Stowe and Ray 

Theodoulou.  Cllr Ray Theodoulou was elected as chair. 

 

1.4 Who did the advisory group speak to? 

Despite significant efforts from officers there was a reluctance amongst 

suppliers to engage in the review.  However, the group was fortunate in 

being able to speak to four leading figures on public sector contracting.  

These were: 

 Andrew Bowen , Head of Transparency in Procurement at the Cabinet 

Office 

 Gavin Hayman, Executive Director at the Open Contracting Partnership 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

 Al Collier, Head of Procurement at Norfolk County Council 

 Liz Fitzsimons, Legal Partner at Eversheds Sutherland 

 

Officers from the Commercial, Legal and Information teams supported the 

review by providing information on current practices at the Council. 

 

1.5 The following report considers the evidence presented and sets out the 

findings and recommendations of the advisory group.  

 

2  BACKGROUND 

  

2.1  The Council procures goods and services amounting to approximately £400 

million each year and has around 3,500 suppliers.  A range of procurement 

methods are used depending on the nature of the product or service.  

These include open, restricted, competitive dialogue, framework and 

dynamic procurement.  The Council has a procurement portal run by 

Supplying the South West (www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk).   

 

2.2  The Public Services Social Value Act 2012 encourages local suppliers and 

allows the benefits to local communities to be considered as part of 

procurement.  Dynamic procurement systems are framework contracts that 

allow provider lists to be refreshed on a regular basis. This encourages new 

firms to come forward and increases competition.  The building and 

maintenance contracts at Shire Hall are good examples of this type of 

contract.   

 

2.3 Rules are in place on what the Council is required to publish on contracts 

and these are set out in contract standing orders, public contract 

regulations and the Local Government Transparency Code. 

2.4 When the Council receives a request to view the contents of a contract the 

Information Team will respond under the appropriate legislation – Freedom 

of Information Act 2000 and Environmental Information Regulations 2004.  

The information is assessed prior to release and redactions are made in 

line with the relevant exemptions and exceptions set out in the legislation.  

These include legal reasons to withhold information where information 

would prejudice commercial interests or where it is personal data and the 

Council would be in breach of Data Protection legislation by releasing it.  

2.5 The texts of contracts are not published routinely by the Council but 

information about Council contracts is made available through the Council’s 

procurement portal and contracts register. Details of how to access this are 

available on the Council website.  

 

Page 6

http://www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk/


3 
 

2.6 The Local Government Transparency Code was published by the 

Department of Communities and Local Government in February 2015.  It 

sets out the minimum data that local authorities should be publishing, the 

frequency it should be published and how this should happen. 

 

2.7 The Government believes that in principle all data held and managed by 

local authorities should be made available to local people unless there are 

specific sensitivities to doing so (eg. protecting vulnerable people or 

commercial and operational considerations).         

 

2.8 Contracts are an agreement with suppliers for the provision of public 

services or support to public services. Providing information on contracts 

supports public and member understanding of the services being delivered, 

builds trust and can support ongoing improvements in service delivery.   

 

2.9 In negotiating individual contracts, it is the responsibility of the Council to 

challenge what should and should not be made publically available.  There 

is a presumption of openness but there needs to be appropriate regard for 

privacy rights and commercial confidentiality.  Officers are required to make 

judgement calls and advise members appropriately. ‘Privacy rights’ and 

‘commercial confidentiality’ are distinctly different.  With privacy there is a 

duty to protect legitimate privacy.  In the case of commercial confidentiality, 

there is a presumption of openness unless the contracting party requests 

that a particular issue is kept confidential.  There is nothing in the Council’s 

constitution that prevents the Council following open contracting principles. 

 

 

3  EVIDENCE  

 

3.1 The advisory group questioned four experts in public sector procurement 

(see paragraph 1.4).  Members asked them questions on a range of issues 

including their understanding of open contracting, how well it had been 

received in the private sector, balancing openness against commercial 

confidentiality and making decisions on redacting contracts.    

 

3.2 Open contracting objectives 

 Gavin Hayman, Executive Director at the Open Contracting Partnership, 

stated that open contracting increases the transparency of public 

contracting.  Benefits include more competition, improving efficiency, 

engaging service users in improving the delivery of services and building 

public trust.  He believed that contracts could be made simpler and easier 

to understand by local authorities, suppliers and the public.   

 

 Academic evidence gathered from EU procurement data shows a clear link 

between sharing information and improved competitiveness.  There is less 

Page 7



4 
 

likelihood of single big contracts which often provided poor value for 

money.   

 

 If individual contracts are bespoke with each provider, requiring sensitive 

information to be withheld, then procurement is often complex and 

expensive to run.  Public sector organisations should make clear their 

expectations at the outset to avoid issues later. 

 

 Gavin stated that there are no policy or legal barriers to the proactive 

publication of contract texts, providing good practices are followed to agree 

any redactions with contractors prior to contract close.  He believed that it 

was rarely necessary to redact information because of commercial 

sensitivity.  He said that transparency helped to prevent suppliers coming 

together to fix prices for particular services and products.  If there is 

genuinely sensitive commercial information that could not be released then 

a clear explanation should be provided on why it had been redacted and 

include how long the information was likely to remain sensitive for. 

 

3.3 The Government position  

 Andrew Bowen, Head of Transparency in Procurement at the Cabinet 

Office, stated that it was important that public sector organisations were as 

upfront as possible in their procurement processes.  There should be an 

expectation of transparency amongst markets and suppliers.   

 As part of contract negotiations, there should be an understanding between 

public sector organisations and suppliers on the approach to releasing 

commercial information where there are sensitivities.  

 

 One of the Government’s main drivers for open contracting is to encourage 

competition by providing opportunities for small and medium sized 

enterprises (SME) to do business with the public sector.  Early market 

engagement through sharing information on future projects is a good way 

to raise awareness and increase competition. Public sector organisations 

should also consider the social value of procurement through the voluntary 

and community sector.  

 

 Andrew recognised that there needed to be a balance between public 

interest and confidentiality.  He explained that there were three areas 

where commercial confidentiality was deemed as being necessary: pricing, 

intellectual property and business plans.  Business plans relate to how a 

particular firm operates and is crucial to their competitive advantage over 

other suppliers in the market. Similarly, how a business arrives at its pricing 

is commercially sensitive and if they disclose it, they would be giving 

competitors an advantage.  Over time information may become less 

sensitive and the balance of public interest may change so that the 

information can be released.  

Page 8



5 
 

3.4 The legal view 

 Liz Fitzsimmons, Legal Partner at Eversheds Sutherland, stated that in an 

ideal world there would be complete transparency throughout procurement 

in the public sector.  The reality, however, is somewhat different with 

contracts, by necessity, including commercial information.  It is unrealistic 

to expect contracts to include standard terms across the board and each 

contract is likely to have variations to reflect the service provided.  With the 

level of detail and sensitivity of the information in some contracts there is 

potential for damage to the intellectual rights of that supplier if it is released.  

Private sector firms rely on their competitive edge to be successful and they 

have a natural concern as to how contractual information is used.   

 

 The public sector should aim to give good information on procurement 

whilst protecting commercial sensitivity.  Suppliers need to have trust and 

confidence in the people they work with.  This helps in negotiating contracts 

that are cost effective and best meet the needs of service users. 

 

 In terms of Freedom of Information requests, Liz advised that there is no 

legal obligation for local authorities to consult with suppliers on what 

contractual information could be released, although it is good practice to do 

so.  Council officers who deal with these requests should have commercial 

knowledge and training to ensure appropriate information is redacted 

before it is released. 

 

3.5 Best practice 

 Al Collier, Head of Procurement at Norfolk County Council, explained that 

Norfolk County Council had embraced open contracting and, although the 

Council did not routinely publish actual contracts, it did publish procurement 

data in an easily accessible format. To make the data available there had 

been a significant up-front investment in improving interfaces between the 

various council systems.  Procurement data could now be drawn down from 

children’s services, adult social care, education, highways and elsewhere 

into one place.  This allows expenditure to be analysed in different ways.  

For example, Norfolk publishes a contract register which can be cross-

referenced with Companies House data to find out whether a firm had 

submitted its accounts on time.  This type of information could be an early 

sign that a particular supplier is in trouble.  They also had the capability to 

link with Care Quality Commission data to identify any issues that arise with 

care providers.         

 

 The procurement visualisation dashboard that Norfolk has developed is 

easily accessible on their website.  Providers, firms tendering for contracts, 

other councils and the public could easily interrogate the data and find out 

how much is being spent on particular services and who the suppliers were.     

 

Page 9



6 
 

 Al noted that some of the larger contracts are complex and he said that 

they are not routinely published because of the amount of staff resource 

required to redact commercially sensitive information.  He said that 

understanding what should and should not be redacted is not easy and 

staff needed to be trained to look for particular points.  It is a time 

consuming manual process, sometimes requiring legal advice, which he 

believed is of limited value to service users.   

 

 

4 SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

4.1 Transparency about how local authorities spend money and deliver 

services, and how decisions are made within councils, gives local people 

the information they need to hold their local authority to account and 

participate in local democratic processes. The availability of data helps to 

secure more efficient and effective local services.  It can also open new 

markets for local businesses, the voluntary and community sectors, and 

social enterprises to run services or manage public assets. 

 

4.2 There should be a presumption of openness and whenever possible the 

Council should follow the principles of open contracting.  There are, 

however, issues around commercial confidentiality and some businesses 

do not wish to share information which they believe gives them a 

competitive advantage.  This is particularly true with high value contracts 

where firms have invested large sums in particular technologies in an effort 

to gain an advantage over a competitor.   

 

4.3 It is a complex area but the Council has a duty to be as open as it can be to 

allow local people to understand how and where taxpayers’ money is being 

spent.   With this in mind, the advisory group makes the following 

recommendations: 

 

4.4 Local Government Transparency Code 2015 

 The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 (see Appendix 3) 

identifies information that local authorities must publish quarterly and 

annually.  Quarterly information relates to expenditure exceeding £500, 

Government Procurement Card transactions and procurement information. 

Annual information relates to local authority land, grants to voluntary and 

community organisations, employment of staff, constitution, fraud, trade 

union facility time and parking.   

 

 The code recommends that local authorities go further than the minimum 

publication requirements.  For example, publishing expenditure of £250 or 

more on a ‘real-time’ basis instead of £500 or more on a monthly basis.  

Page 10



7 
 

There are recommendations relating to procurement information, local 

authority land, local authority land, grants, employment, fraud and parking.     

 

 Recommendation 1 

 To request the Strategic Director: Strategy and Challenge to undertake a 

review of how the Council has implemented the Local Government 

Transparency Code 2015.  This should include a compliance check against 

the code’s requirements and report on progress against recommended 

elements of the code.  Where recommended elements have not been 

implemented, the review should consider the practicalities of introducing 

them, including resources and timescales.   

 

 A report to be made to the Audit and Governance Committee no later than 

30 January 2019 to allow any resource requirements to be considered as 

part of the 2019-20 Budget. 

 

4.5 Protecting public services 

 Rupert Soames, Chief Executive of Serco, one of the leading outsourcing 

firms for the public sector, speaking in February 2018 recognised the need 

for scrutineers to understand what is happening with major contracts. He 

believes that contracts should include break clauses so that public 

authorities could escape over-generous arrangements and firms could get 

out of deals which threatened to break them 

 

 The Council has itself in recent years faced the collapse of a contract for a 

critical service for vulnerable people. At a national level, the collapse of 

Carillion has had a widespread impact on the public sector, particularly on 

high value construction projects.  With a growing number of reports in the 

national press about the financial fragility of some major public service 

providers, it is important that the Council has a robust mechanism to ensure 

that major contracts are subject to financial checks on a regular basis. 

Whistle-blowing arrangements should be in place to ensure that staff 

employed by contractors are able to raise concerns regarding the way that 

services were being provided or where they felt there was a threat to the 

continued provision of a service.   

  

 Recommendation 2 

a) To request the Strategic Director: Finance to ensure that the Council 

has a robust mechanism to ensure that major contracts are subject to 

financial checks on a regular basis. 

 

b) To request the Head of Legal Services to ensure that all contractors 

comply with the Government’s ‘Whistleblowing: guidance and code of 

practice for employers’. 

 

Page 11



8 
 

4.6 Contract spend software 

 At Norfolk County Council, procurement data can be drawn from children’s 

services, adult social care, education, highways and elsewhere into one 

place.  This allows spending to be analysed by provider, by category of 

expenditure and by contract amount.  Although contracts are not published 

routinely, the system does allow the public to view information on each 

contract.     

 

 Recommendation 3 

 To request the Strategic Director: Finance to investigate the practical 

implications of introducing the same type of procurement system as Norfolk 

CC.  This should cover the resource requirements associated with 

cleansing of data and improving interfaces between Council systems.   

 

 A report to be made to the Audit and Governance Committee no later than 

30 January 2019 to allow any resource requirements to be considered as 

part of the 2019-20 Budget. 

 

4.7 Procurement portal 

 The Council should do all that it can to encourage firms to bid to provide 

products and services.  It is particularly important that local businesses, 

particularly small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs), are given this 

opportunity.  The Council already has a procurement portal provided 

through Supplying the South West (www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk) but 

this is not publicised as well as it might be.          

 

 Recommendation 4 

 To request the Strategic Director: Finance to take steps to raise awareness 

of opportunities to do business with the Council.  This should be done in 

conjunction with the Federation of Small Businesses with information easily 

accessible on the GCC website. 

 

4.8 Managing compliance costs and proactive publication of contracts 

 With a presumption of openness and recognising the costs associated with 

redacting documents for Freedom of Information or Environment 

Information Regulations requests, it is important that the Council is clear 

about information that the contractor considers to be commercially 

sensitive.  This should be recorded ahead of signing the contract with 

reasons recorded by the Council for items that are considered commercially 

sensitive.        

Recommendation 5 

a) To request the Head of Legal Services to review the process for drafting 

contracts so that suppliers are asked to clearly state what information in 

the contract they believe to be commercially sensitive and the reason 

why.   

Page 12

http://www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk/


9 
 

b) To request the Strategic Director: Finance to consider the practical 

implications of working towards publishing future contracts on the 

Council’s procurement portal.  

 

A report to be made to the Audit and Governance Committee no later than 

30 January 2019 to allow any resource requirements to be considered as 

part of the 2019-20 Budget. 

 
 4.9 Raising awareness amongst members and officers 

 With the number of local authority services provided from outside the 

Council it is essential that members have an understanding of the 

procurement cycle.  The forthcoming scrutiny review will include coverage 

of member development and provide an opportunity to consider this further.     

Similarly, officers involved in contracting should be able to demonstrate a 

good understanding of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.    

 

 Recommendation 6 

a) To request that awareness sessions on procurement be run from time 

to time as part of the Council’s Member Development Programme.  

b) To request the Strategic Director: Strategy and Challenge to advise on 

the checks in place to ensure that officers comply with the Local 

Government Transparency Code 2015. 

 

4.10 Contracts with schedules of prices 

 More flexible contracts with schedules of prices showing the cost for 

providing a particular service or product are becoming more common place 

in the public sector.  Whilst the level of flexibility they provide prevents 

delays there have been reports in the national press that anything outside 

the norm can be charged at an excessive rate.  To avoid this, the schedule 

of prices relating to these contracts need to include fixed rates for labour 

and transparency to allow visibility for bought-in materials and services. 

 

 Recommendation 7 

 To request the Strategic Director: Finance to advise on the safeguards that 

are in place for contracts with schedules of prices.  

 

 

 Cllr Ray Theodoulou 

 Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

 

Page 13



Page 14



Appendix 1 

Motion 783 – Open contracting  

 

Cllr Sarah Lunnon proposed and Cllr Mike Sztymiak seconded the following motion: 

 

That Gloucestershire County Council commits to the Open Contracting Global 

Principles and takes action to ensure that:  

 

- By the end of 2017 complete information for all contracting processes over £1m, 

including details of the tender, award and contract process, the full text of contracts 

and amendments, and performance information, are proactively published; 

- By the end of 2018 complete information is available for all contracting processes, 

over £500*, is proactively published 

 

The presumption should be that the text of all contracts is open by default. 

Redactions should only be permitted: (a) at the explicit written request of the parties 

to the contract; (b) subject to the public interest tests of the Freedom of Information 

act; (c) with the minimum possible redactions; and (d) with full justifications for any 

redaction given. 

 

Furthermore, to ensure public access to information on the operation of outsourced 

services, all future contracts of the Council should include a model clause providing 

full public access to performance reporting and other key information required to 

exercise effective scrutiny.  

 

(*This should be set the same as the threshold in the local government transparency code) 

 

Notes: 

The Open Contracting Global Principles were developed through an extensive consultation process 

involving governments, private sector and civil society. The UK Government has endorsed the 

principles in it's 2013-15 and 2016-18 Open Government Partnership National Action Plans.  

 

The Council is required by the provision of the Local Government Transparency Code to disclose a log 

of all contracts entered into. This motion builds upon that practice, adding a requirement for 

enhanced disclosure of contract text, performance information and information about the whole 

contracting process.  

 

This motion is proposed on a basic understanding of fairness, that those paying the bill be allowed to 

see the itemised invoices, to understand exactly what they are buying. In terms of public interest it 

will also enable full scrutiny of how and what public money is being spent on and enable the public or 

their representatives to spot misuse of public funds, inept services delivery or bad contractual 

decision making. Open Contracting also promotes a level playing field in public contracting, bringing 

greater opportunities for SMEs, and ensuring government gets better value for money. 

 

Page 15



Page 16



Appendix 2  

  

Open Contracting Advisory Group – terms of reference 

 

Parent committee Constitution Committee 

Ambitions for the 

review 

 

 

 

 

 

 To consider the current arrangements for publishing 

contract details within the Council. 

 To seek expert advice on best practice relating to 

openness and transparency in respect of contracting. 

 To understand the views of the commercial sector on 

open contracting. 

 To understand other local authority practices relating to 

openness in contracts, including councils within 

Gloucestershire’s family group. 

 To assess the costs and other implications of any 

changes to the current arrangements on the Council.  

Legislative position 

 

 

 

 

 Freedom of Information Act 2004 

 Environmental Information Regulations 2004 

 Data Protection Act 1998 

 Section 100A, 100B and 100F of the Local Government 

Act 1972 

 Local Government Transparency Code 2016 

 EU Procurement Regulations 

Who should we 

consult? 

 Other local authorities 

 Local Government Association 

 Commercial sector 

 Open Contracting Partnership 

 Director: Strategic Finance  

 Director: Strategy and Challenge 

 Head of Legal Services 

 Commercial Unit 

Background 

information 

Open Contracting motion, proposed by Cllr Sarah Lunnon 

and seconded by Cllr Mike Sztymiak, presented to Council 

on 7 December 2016 (see over). Considered by the 

Constitution Committee on 16 January 2017.  Agreed that 

an advisory group would be established after the election in 

May 2017.  

 

Support Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser  

How long will it take? 6 months: July 2017 to March 2018 

Outcomes A report to the Constitution Committee reviewing the 

present position and advising on the implications and the 

consequential changes to the Constitution, contract 

standing orders and financial regulations, and other 

relevant parts of the Constitution. 

 
Page 17



Page 18



February 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Local Government Transparency Code 
2015 

Appendix 3

Page 19



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2015 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence,http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

February 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4484-6

Page 20

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


 

3 

Contents 

1 Part 1: Introduction         4 
 
2 Part 2: Information which must be published      11 
 
3 Part 3: Information recommended for publication    23 
 
4 Annex A: Table summarising all information to be published   28 
 
5 Annex B: Detecting and preventing fraud     38 
 
6 Annex C: Social housing asset data to be published    40 
 

Page 21



 

4 

Part 1: Introduction 

Policy context 
1. This Code is issued to meet the Government’s desire to place more power into citizens’ 

hands to increase democratic accountability and make it easier for local people to 
contribute to the local decision making process and help shape public services. 
Transparency is the foundation of local accountability and the key that gives people the 
tools and information they need to enable them to play a bigger role in society. The 
availability of data can also open new markets for local business, the voluntary and 
community sectors and social enterprises to run services or manage public assets. 

 
2. ‘Data’ means the objective, factual data, on which policy decisions are based and on 

which public services are assessed, or which is collected or generated in the course of 
public service delivery. This should be the basis for publication of information on the 
discharge of local authority functions. 

 
3. Analysis by Deloitte1 for the Shakespeare Review of Public Sector Information 

estimates the economic benefits of public sector information in the United Kingdom as 
£1.8 billion, with social benefits amounting to £5 billion. The study highlights the 
significant potential benefits from the publication of public data. And, local authorities 
and local people want to see published open data: 

 80 per cent of those responding to a transparency survey2 by the Local 
Government Association in September 2012 cited external accountability as a 
benefit, with 56 per cent citing better local decision making and democracy as a 
benefit 

 a survey of 800 members of Bedford’s Citizens Panel3 showed that 64 per cent 
of respondents thought it was very important that the council makes data 
available to the public and the public were most interested in seeing data made 
available about council spending and budgets (66 per cent) 

 research by Ipsos MORI4 found that the more citizens feel informed, the more 
they tend to be satisfied with public services and their local authorities. 

 

                                            
 
1
 “Market Assessment of Public Sector Information”, Deloitte, May 2013, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198905/bis-13-743-market-
assessment-of-public-sector-information.pdf  
2 “Local Government Transparency Survey 2012”, LGA, December 2012, 

http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11541/Local_Government_Transparency_Survey_2012.pdf/dd4c2
4ed-20ba-4feb-b6eb-fea21e4af049  
3
 ”Citizens Panel Summer 2011 Survey Results Data Transparency” Bedford Borough Council, August 2011 

(unpublished) 
4 “What do people want, need and expect from public services?”, Ipsos MORI, 2010, http://www.ipsos-

mori.com/DownloadPublication/1345_sri_what_do_people_want_need_and_expect_from_public_services_1
10310.pdf  

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198905/bis-13-743-market-assessment-of-public-sector-information.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198905/bis-13-743-market-assessment-of-public-sector-information.pdf
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11541/Local_Government_Transparency_Survey_2012.pdf/dd4c24ed-20ba-4feb-b6eb-fea21e4af049
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11541/Local_Government_Transparency_Survey_2012.pdf/dd4c24ed-20ba-4feb-b6eb-fea21e4af049
http://www.ipsos-mori.com/DownloadPublication/1345_sri_what_do_people_want_need_and_expect_from_public_services_110310.pdf
http://www.ipsos-mori.com/DownloadPublication/1345_sri_what_do_people_want_need_and_expect_from_public_services_110310.pdf
http://www.ipsos-mori.com/DownloadPublication/1345_sri_what_do_people_want_need_and_expect_from_public_services_110310.pdf


 

5 

4. Therefore, the Government believes that in principle all data held and managed by 
local authorities should be made available to local people unless there are specific 
sensitivities (eg. protecting vulnerable people or commercial and operational 
considerations) to doing so. It encourages local authorities to see data as a valuable 
resource not only to themselves, but also their partners and local people. 

 
5. Three principles have guided the development of this Code: 

 demand led – there are growing expectations that new technologies and 
publication of data should support transparency and accountability. It is vital that 
public bodies recognise the value to the public of the data they hold, understand 
what they hold, what their communities want and then release it in a way that 
allows the public, developers and the media to use it 

 open – provision of public data should become integral to local authority 
engagement with local people so that it drives accountability to them. Its 
availability should be promoted and publicised so that residents know how to 
access it and how it can be used. Presentation should be helpful and accessible 
to local people and other interested persons, and 

 timely – the timeliness of making public data available is often of vital 
importance. It should be made public as soon as possible following production 
even if it is not accompanied with detailed analysis. 

 
6. This Code ensures local people can now see and access data covering (annex A 

summarises the publication requirements specified in this Code): 

 how money is spent – for example, all spending transactions over £500, all 
Government Procurement Card spending and contracts valued over £5,000 

 use of assets – ensuring that local people are able to scrutinise how well their 
local authority manages its assets5. For example, self-financing for council 
housing – introduced in April 2012 – gave each local authority a level of debt it 
could support based on the valuation of its housing stock. This Code gives local 
people the information they need to ask questions about how their authority is 
managing its housing stock to ensure it is put to best use, including considering 
whether higher value, vacant properties could be used to fund the building of 
new affordable homes and so reduce waiting lists. The requirement in 
paragraphs 38 to 41 builds on existing Housing Revenue Account practices6 

 decision making – how decisions are taken and who is taking them, including 
how much senior staff are paid, and 

 issues important to local people – for example, parking and the amount spent 
by an authority subsidising trade union activity. 

 

                                            
 
5
 Nationally, local authorities’ estate (all forms of land and buildings) is estimated to be worth about £220 

billion. 
6
 The Housing Revenue Account (Accounting Practices) Directions 2011 require that local authorities’ annual 

statement of accounts include disclosure of the total balance sheet value of the land, houses and other 
property and the vacant possession value of dwellings within the authority’s Housing Revenue Account, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-housing-revenue-account-directions-2011.  

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-housing-revenue-account-directions-2011


 

6 

7. Local authorities are encouraged to consider the responses the Government received7 
to its consultation and look to go further than this Code by publishing some of the data 
proposed by respondents, in line with the principle that all data held and managed by 
local authorities should be made open and available to local people unless there are 
specific sensitivities to doing so. 

 
8. Fraud can thrive where decisions are not open to scrutiny and details of spending, 

contracts and service provision are hidden from view. Greater transparency, and the 
provisions in this Code, can help combat fraud. Local authorities should also use a risk 
management approach with strong internal control arrangements to reduce the risk of 
any payment fraud as a result of publishing public data. Local authorities should refer 
to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Code of Practice on 
Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption8. Annex B provides further information on 
combating fraud. 

 

Application 
9. This Code is issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

in exercise of his powers under section 2 of the Local Government, Planning and Land 
Act 1980 (“the Act”) to issue a Code of Recommended Practice (the Code) as to the 
publication of information by local authorities about the discharge of their functions and 
other matters which he considers to be related. It is issued following consultation in 
accordance with section 3(11) of the Act. 

 
10. The Code does not replace or supersede the existing legal framework for access to 

and re-use of public sector information provided by the: 

 Freedom of Information Act 2000 (as amended by the Protection of Freedoms 
Act 2012) 

 Environmental Information Regulations 2004 

 Re-use of Public Sector Information Regulations 2005 

 Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European Community (INSPIRE) 
Regulations 2009, and 

 sections 25 and 26 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 20149 which 
provide rights for persons to inspect a local authority’s accounting records and 
supporting documentation, and to make copies of them. 

 
11. This Code does not apply to Police and Crime Commissioners, for whom a separate 

transparency framework applies. 
 

                                            
 
7
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/266815/Transparency_Code_

Government_Response.pdf (see paragraph 37) 
8
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/code-of-practice 

9
 See the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2014/234) for details of when and how those rights may 

be exercised. 

Page 24

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/code-of-practice


 

7 

12. This Code only applies to local authorities in relation to descriptions of information or 
data where that type of local authority undertakes the particular function to which the 
information or data relates. 

 
13. The Code applies in England only. 
 

Definitions 

14. In this Code: 
 

“local authority” means: 

 a county council in England 

 a district council 

 a parish council which has gross annual income or expenditure (whichever is 
the higher) exceeding £200,000 

 a London borough council 

 the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local authority 

 the Council of the Isles of Scilly 

 a National Park authority for a National Park in England 

 the Broads Authority 

 the Greater London Authority so far as it exercises its functions through the 
Mayor 

 the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority 

 Transport for London 

 a fire and rescue authority (constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the Fire 
and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act 
applies, and a metropolitan county fire and rescue authority) 

 a joint authority established by Part IV of the Local Government Act 1985 (fire 
and rescue services and transport) 

 a joint waste authority, i.e. an authority established for an area in England by 
an order under section 207 of the Local Government and Public Involvement 
in Health Act 2007 

 an economic prosperity board established under section 88 of the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 

 a combined authority established under section 103 of that Act 

 a waste disposal authority, i.e. an authority established under section 10 of the 
Local Government Act 1985, and 

 an integrated transport authority for an integrated transport area in England. 
 

Page 25



 

8 

“a social enterprise”10 means a business that trades for a social and/or 
environmental purpose and is a business which: 

o aims to generate its income by selling goods and services, rather than 
through grants and donations 

o is set up to specifically make a difference, and 

o reinvests the profits it makes for the purpose of its social mission. 
 

“a small or medium sized enterprise” means an undertaking which has fewer than 
250 employees. 
 
“voluntary and community sector organisations” means a non-governmental 
organisation that is value-driven and which principally reinvests its surpluses to 
further social, environmental or cultural objectives. 

 

Data protection 
 
15. The Government believes that local transparency can be implemented in a way that 

complies with the Data Protection Act 1998. Where local authorities are disclosing 
information which potentially engages the Data Protection Act 1998, they must ensure 
that the publication of that information is compliant with the provisions of that Act. The 
Data Protection Act 1998 does not restrict or inhibit information being published about 
councillors or senior local authority officers because of the legitimate public interest in 
the scrutiny of such senior individuals and decision makers.  The Data Protection Act 
1998 also does not automatically prohibit information being published naming the 
suppliers with whom the authority has contracts, including sole traders, because of the 
public interest in accountability and transparency in the spending of public money. 

 
16. For other situations where information held by local authorities contains public data 

which cannot be disclosed in a Data Protection Act compliant manner, the Information 
Commissioner’s Office has published guidance on anonymisation of datasets, enabling 
publication of data which can yield insights to support public service improvement, 
whilst safeguarding individuals’ privacy11. 

 
17. To ensure that published valuation information for social housing assets (see 

paragraphs 38 to 41) is not disclosive of individual properties, authorities are required 
to publish their valuation data at postal sector level, i.e. full ‘outbound’ code (first part of 
the postcode) and first digit of the ‘inbound’ code (second part of the postcode). This 
provides an average cell size of 2,500 households, which should be large enough to 
prevent identification of individual dwellings. However, in particular areas where the 
postcode sector gives a number of households below 2,500 the postcode level should 
be set higher, that is at postcode district level (e.g.PO1 ***). 

 

                                            
 
10

 https://www.gov.uk/set-up-a-social-enterprise 
11

http://ico.org.uk/for_organisations/data_protection/topic_guides/anonymisation 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/set-up-a-social-enterprise
http://ico.org.uk/for_organisations/data_protection/topic_guides/anonymisation


 

9 

18. Local authorities should also make the following adjustment prior to publishing social 
housing valuation data in order to mitigate the possibility of identifying individual 
properties: 

 Step 1 – for any given postcode sector where the number of occupied social 
housing properties in any valuation bands is less than a threshold of ’10’, 
authorities should merge that particular cell with the next lowest valuation band, 
and so on until the resultant merged cells contain at least ‘10’ occupied social 
housing properties. However, if continued repetition of step 1 leads to the 
number of valuation bands applied to that postcode sector falling below the 
proposed minimum threshold of valuation bands as set out in paragraph 17, 
authorities should then apply step 2. 

 Step 2 – authorities should merge the original (non-merged) valuation data for 
the relevant postcode sector with the valuation data with any adjoining postcode 
sectors which show the lowest number of socially rented properties. Then apply 
Step 1. 

 

Licences 

19. When using postcode data (for example, in connection with paragraphs 35 to 41), local 
authorities will need to assess their current licence arrangement with the Royal Mail 
with regards to the terms of use of the Postcode Address File (PAF). 

 

Commercial confidentiality 

20. The Government has not seen any evidence that publishing details about contracts 
entered into by local authorities would prejudice procurement exercises or the interests 
of commercial organisations, or breach commercial confidentiality unless specific 
confidentiality clauses are included in contracts. Local authorities should expect to 
publish details of contracts newly entered into – commercial confidentiality should not, 
in itself, be a reason for local authorities to not follow the provisions of this Code. 
Therefore, local authorities should consider inserting clauses in new contracts allowing 
for the disclosure of data in compliance with this Code. 

 

Exclusions and exemptions 

21. Authorities should ensure that they do not contravene the provisions of sections 100A, 
100B or 100F of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
22. Where information would otherwise fall within one of the exemptions from disclosure, 

for instance, under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004, the Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European 
Community (INSPIRE) Regulations 2009 or fall within Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 then it is at the discretion of the local authority whether or not to 
rely on that exemption or publish the data. Local authorities should start from the 
presumption of openness and disclosure of information, and not rely on exemptions to 
withhold information unless absolutely necessary. 

 

Page 27



 

10 

 

Timeliness and errors 

23. Data should be as accurate as possible at first publication. While errors may occur, the 
publication of information should not be unduly delayed to rectify mistakes. This 
concerns errors in data accuracy. The best way to achieve this is by having robust 
information management processes in place. 

 
24. Where errors in data are discovered, or files are changed for other reasons (such as 

omissions), local authorities should publish revised information making it clear where 
and how there has been an amendment. Metadata on data.gov.uk should be amended 
accordingly. 

 

Further guidance and support 

25. The Local Government Association has published guidance12 on transparency (eg. 
technical guidance notes, best practice examples and case studies) to help local 
authorities comply with this Code. 

 

                                            
 
12

 http://www.local.gov.uk/practitioners-guides-to-publishing-data 

Page 28

http://www.local.gov.uk/practitioners-guides-to-publishing-data


 

11 

Part 2: Information which must be published 

 

Part 2.1: Information to be published quarterly 
 
26. Data covered by this section includes: 

 expenditure exceeding £500 (see paragraphs 28 and 29) 

 Government Procurement Card transactions (paragraph 30), and 

 procurement information (see paragraphs 31 and 32). 
 
27. The data and information referred to in this Part (2.1) must be: 

 first published within a period of three months from the date on which the local 
authority last published that data under the Local Government Transparency 
Code 201413 and not later than one month after the quarter to which the data 
and information is applicable 

 published quarterly thereafter and on each occasion not later than one month 
after the quarter to which the data and information is applicable. 

 

Expenditure exceeding £500  

28. Local authorities must publish details of each individual item of expenditure that 
exceeds £50014. This includes items of expenditure15, consistent with Local 
Government Association guidance16, such as: 

 individual invoices 

 grant payments 

 expense payments 

 payments for goods and services 

 grants 

 grant in aid 

 rent 

 credit notes over £500, and 

 transactions with other public bodies. 
 

                                            
 
13

 Under the Local Government Transparency Code 2014, local authorities were required to publish this data 
on the first occasion, not later than 31 December 2014 and quarterly thereafter. 
14

 The threshold should be, where possible, the net amount excluding recoverable Value Added Tax. 
15

 Salary payments to staff normally employed by the local authority should not be included. However, local 
authorities should publish details of payments to individual contractors (e.g. individuals from consultancy 
firms, employment agencies, direct personal contracts, personal service companies etc) either here or under 
contract information. 
16

 http://www.local.gov.uk/practitioners-guides-to-publishing-data 

Page 29

http://www.local.gov.uk/practitioners-guides-to-publishing-data


 

12 

29. For each individual item of expenditure the following information must be published: 

 date the expenditure was incurred 

 local authority department which incurred the expenditure 

 beneficiary 

 summary of the purpose of the expenditure17 

 amount18 

 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered, and 

 merchant category (eg. computers, software etc). 

 
 
 
Government Procurement Card transactions 

30. Local authorities must publish details of every transaction on a Government 
Procurement Card. For each transaction, the following details must be published: 

 date of the transaction 

 local authority department which incurred the expenditure 

 beneficiary 

 amount19 

 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered 

 summary of the purpose of the expenditure, and 

 merchant category (eg. computers, software etc). 

 

                                            
 
17

 This could be the descriptor that local authorities use in their accounting system providing it gives a clear 
sense of why the expenditure was incurred or what it purchased or secured for the local authority. 
18

 Where possible, this should be the net amount excluding recoverable Value Added Tax. Where Value 
Added Tax cannot be recovered – or the source of the data being used cannot separate out recoverable 
Value Added Tax – then the gross amount should be used instead with a note stating that the gross amount 
has been used. 
19

 Where possible, this should be the net amount excluding recoverable Value Added Tax. Where Value 
Added Tax cannot be recovered – or the source of the data being used cannot separate out recoverable 
Value Added Tax – then the gross amount should be used instead with a note stating that the gross amount 
has been used. 

Page 30



 

13 

Procurement information 

31. Local authorities must publish details of every invitation to tender for contracts to 
provide goods and/or services20 with a value that exceeds £5,00021, 22. For each 
invitation, the following details must be published: 

 reference number 

 title 

 description of the goods and/or services sought 

 start, end and review dates, and 

 local authority department responsible. 
 
32. Local authorities must also publish details of any contract23, commissioned activity, 

purchase order, framework agreement and any other legally enforceable agreement 
with a value that exceeds £5,00024. For each contract, the following details must be 
published: 

 reference number 

 title of agreement 

 local authority department responsible 

 description of the goods and/or services being provided 

 supplier name and details 

 sum to be paid over the length of the contract or the estimated annual spending 
or budget for the contract25 

 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered 

 start, end and review dates 

 whether or not the contract was the result of an invitation to quote or a published 
invitation to tender, and 

 whether or not the supplier is a small or medium sized enterprise and/or a 
voluntary or community sector organisation and where it is, provide the relevant 
registration number26.  

 

                                            
 
20

 This includes contracts for staff who are employed via consultancy firms or similar agencies. 
21

 The threshold should be, where possible, the net amount excluding recoverable Value Added Tax. 
22

 Tenders for framework agreements should be included, even though there may be no initial value. 
23

 This includes contracts for staff who are employed via consultancy firms or similar agencies. 
24

 The threshold should be, where possible, the net amount excluding recoverable Value Added Tax. 
25

 Where possible, this should be the net amount excluding recoverable Value Added Tax. Where Value 
Added Tax cannot be recovered – or the source of the data being used cannot separate out recoverable 
Value Added Tax – then the gross amount should be used instead with a note stating that the gross amount 
has been used. 
26

 For example, this might be the company or charity registration number. 

Page 31



 

14 

Part 2.2: Information to be published annually 
 
33. Data covered by this section includes: 

 local authority land (see paragraphs 35 to 37) 

 social housing assets (see paragraphs 38 to 41) 

 grants to voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations (see 
paragraphs 42 and 43) 

 organisation chart (see paragraph 44) 

 trade union facility time (see paragraph 45) 

 parking account (see paragraph 46) 

 parking spaces (see paragraph 47) 

 senior salaries (see paragraphs 48 and 49) 

 constitution (see paragraph 50) 

 pay multiple (see paragraphs 51 and 52), and 

 fraud (see paragraph 53). 

 
34. With the exception of data relating to social housing assets (paragraphs 38 to 41), the 

data and information in this Part (2.2) must be: 

 first published within a period of one year from the date on which the local 
authority last published that data under the Local Government Transparency 
Code 201427 and not later than one month after the year to which the data and 
information is applicable 

 published annually thereafter and on each occasion not later than one month28 
after the year to which the data and information is applicable. 

 
The data on social housing assets (see paragraphs 38 to 41) must be published: 

 on the first occasion, not later than 1 September 2015 (based on the most up to 
date valuation data available at the time of publishing the information), then 

 in April 2016, and 

 every April thereafter. 
 
 

                                            
 
27

 Under the Local Government Transparency Code 2014, local authorities were required to publish this data 
on the first occasion, not later than 2 February 2015 and annual thereafter. 
28

 In relation to parking account data, where the local authority’s annual accounts have not been finalised, 
the authority should publish estimates within one month after the year to which the data is applicable and 
subsequently publish final figures as soon as the authority’s accounts are finalised. 

Page 32



 

15 

Local authority land 

35. Local authorities must publish details of all land and building assets including: 

 all service and office properties occupied or controlled by user bodies, both 
freehold and leasehold 

 any properties occupied or run under Private Finance Initiative contracts 

 all other properties they own or use, for example, hostels, laboratories, 
investment properties and depots 

 garages unless rented as part of a housing tenancy agreement 

 surplus, sublet or vacant properties 

 undeveloped land 

 serviced or temporary offices where contractual or actual occupation exceeds 
three months, and 

 all future commitments, for example under an agreement for lease, from when 
the contractual commitment is made. 

 
Information about the following land and building assets are to be excluded from 
publication: 

 rent free properties provided by traders (such as information booths in public 
places or ports) 

 operational railways and canals 

 operational public highways (but any adjoining land not subject to public rights 
should be included) 

 assets of national security, and 

 information deemed inappropriate for public access as a result of data protection 
and/or disclosure controls (eg. such as refuge houses). 

 
36. For the purposes of this dataset about local authority land (paragraphs 35 to 37), 

details about social housing should not be published. However, information about the 
value of social housing stock contained in a local authority’s Housing Revenue 
Account does need to be published for the social housing asset value dataset 
(paragraphs 38 to 41). 

 

Page 33



 

16 

37. For each land or building asset, the following information must be published together in 
one place: 

 Unique Property Reference Number29 

 Unique asset identity - the local reference identifier used by the local body, 
sometimes known as local name or building block. There should be one entry 
per asset or user/owner (eg. on one site there could be several buildings or in 
one building there could be several users floors/rooms etc – where this is the 
case, each of these will have a separate asset identity). This must include the 
original reference number from the data source plus authority code 

 name of the building/land or both 

 street number or numbers - any sets of 2 or more numbers should be separated 
with the ‘-‘ symbol (eg. 10-15 London Road) 

 street name – this is the postal road address30 

 post town 

 United Kingdom postcode 

 map reference – local authorities may use either Ordnance Survey or ISO 6709  
systems to identify the location of an asset, but must make clear which is being 
used. Where an Ordnance Survey mapping system is used (the grid system) 
then assets will be identified using Eastings before Northings. Where geocoding 
in accordance with ISO 6709 is being used to identify the centre point of the 
asset location then that reference must indicate its ISO coordinates 

 whether the local authority owns the freehold or a lease for the asset and for 
whichever category applies, the local authority must list all the characteristics 
that apply from the options given below:  
 
for freehold assets: 

o occupied by the local authority 

o ground leasehold 

o leasehold 

o licence 

o vacant (for vacant properties, local authorities should not publish the map 
reference or full address details, they should only publish the first part of the 
postcode31). 

 

                                            
 
29

 The Unique Property Reference Number (UPRN) is a unique twelve digit number assigned to every unit of 
land and property recorded by local government, this is a statutory obligation. The UPRN uniquely and 
definitively identifies every addressable location in the country. The numbers originate from Geo-Place (an 
OS and LGA joint venture). 
30

 Local authorities should use the official postal address. Exceptionally, where this is not available, local 
authorities should use the address they hold for the asset. 
31

 The first part of the postcode, or Outward Code, refers to the area and the district only, 
http://www.postcodeaddressfile.co.uk/products/postcodes/postcodes_explained.htm  

Page 34

http://www.postcodeaddressfile.co.uk/products/postcodes/postcodes_explained.htm


 

17 

for leasehold assets: 

o occupied by the local authority 

o ground leasehold 

o sub leasehold 

o licence. 
 
for other assets: 

o free text description eg. rights of way, access etc32. 
 

 whether or not the asset is land only (i.e. without permanent buildings) or it is 
land with a permanent building. 

 
 

Social housing asset value 
 
38. Local authorities must publish details of the value of social housing stock that is held in 

their Housing Revenue Account33. 
 
39. The following social housing stock data must be published: 

 valuation data to be listed at postal sector level34 (e.g. PO1 1**), without 
indicating individual dwelling values, and ensuring that data is not capable of 
being made disclosive of individual properties, in line with disclosure protocols 
set out in paragraphs 15 to 18 

 valuation data for the dwellings using both Existing Use Value for Social 
Housing and market value (valued in accordance with guidance35) as at 1 April. 
This should be based on the authority’s most up to date valuation data at the 
time of the publication of the information 

 an explanation of the difference between the tenanted sale value of dwellings 
within the Housing Revenue Account and their market sale value, and 
assurance that the publication of this information is not intended to suggest that 
tenancies should end to realise the market value of properties. 

 

                                            
 
32

 Where a local authority feels unable to verify rights of way information, for example, it should add a short 
narrative explaining why it is unable to identify and verify the information. 
33

 All local housing authorities who hold housing stock are required to account for all income and expenditure 
in relation to that stock in a separate account which is called the Housing Revenue Account. 
34

 The first part of the postcode, or Outward Code (which refers only to the area and the district only), and 
first digit of the second part of the postcode, or Inward Code (the number identifies the sector in the postal 
district).  http://www.postcodeaddressfile.co.uk/products/postcodes/postcodes_explained.htm    
35

 Guidance for Valuers on Stock Valuation for Resource Accounting 2010 published by the Secretary of 
State for Communities and Local Government in January 2011, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5939/1825886.pdf 

Page 35

http://www.postcodeaddressfile.co.uk/products/postcodes/postcodes_explained.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5939/1825886.pdf


 

18 

40. The valuation data and information referred to in paragraph 39 must be published in 
the following format: 

 for each postal sector level, the valuation data should be classified within set 
bands of value. Authorities must set their valuation bands within the general 
parameters set out in the table below, in light of the local characteristics of the 
housing market in their area, in order to ensure that valuation data published by 
all authorities is consistent and clear to understand: 

 

Valuation Band Range Intervening bands value 

< £50,000 -£99,999 6 Bands of £10,000  

£100,000 - £299,999 10 Bands of £20,000 

£300,000 - £499,999 4 Bands of £50,000 

£500,000 - £999,999 5 Bands of £100,000 

£1,000,000 – £2,999,999> 5 Bands of £500,000 

  

 authorities should ensure that any band should only include values that fall 
within the band parameters (i.e. not give a top value band). If that is the case, 
the lowest and highest band should be further disaggregated 

 authorities should bear in mind that it is likely that the numbers of properties in 
the lowest and highest bands will be low, leading to potential disclosure 
problems. The protocol to address this issue is set out in paragraphs 15 to 18 

 for each postal sector level, within the set band of value, the data should 
indicate: 

o the total number of  dwellings 

o the aggregate value of the dwellings and their mean value, using both 
Existing Use Value for Social Housing and market value, and 

o the percentage of the dwellings that are occupied and the percentage that 
are vacant 

 authorities must publish the valuation data for both tenanted and vacant 
dwellings. 

 
41. An example of how the data specified in paragraphs 39 and 40 could be presented is 

included at annex C. 
 

Grants to voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations 

42. Local authorities must publish details of all grants to voluntary, community and social 
enterprise organisations. This can be achieved by either: 

 tagging and hence specifically identifying transactions which relate to voluntary, 
community and social enterprise organisations within published data on 
expenditure over £500 or published procurement information, or 

 by publishing a separate list or register. 
 

Page 36



 

19 

43. For each identified grant, the following information must be published as a minimum: 

 date the grant was awarded 

 time period for which the grant has been given 

 local authority department which awarded the grant 

 beneficiary 

 beneficiary’s registration number36 

 summary of the purpose of the grant, and 

 amount. 
 

Organisation chart 

44. Local authorities must publish an organisation chart covering staff in the top three 
levels of the organisation37. The following information must be included for each 
member of staff included in the chart: 

 grade 

 job title 

 local authority department and team 

 whether permanent or temporary staff 

 contact details 

 salary in £5,000 brackets, consistent with the details published under paragraph 
48, and 

 salary ceiling (the maximum salary for the grade). 
 

Trade union facility time 

45. Local authorities must publish the following information on trade union facility time: 

 total number (absolute number and full time equivalent) of staff who are union 
representatives (e.g. general, learning and health and safety representatives) 

 total number (absolute number and full time equivalent) of union representatives 
who devote at least 50 per cent of their time to union duties 

 names of all trade unions represented in the local authority 

 a basic estimate of spending on unions (calculated as the number of full time 
equivalent days spent on union duties by authority staff that spent the majority of 
their time on union duties multiplied by the average salary), and 

 a basic estimate of spending on unions as a percentage of the total pay bill 
(calculated as the number of full time equivalent days spent on union duties by 
authority staff that spent the majority of their time on union duties multiplied by 
the average salary divided by the total pay bill). 

                                            
 
36

 For example, this might be the company or charity registration number. 
37

 This should exclude staff whose salary does not exceed £50,000. 

Page 37



 

20 

Parking account 

46. Local authorities must publish on their website, or place a link on their website to this 
data if published elsewhere: 

 a breakdown of income and expenditure on the authority’s parking account38, 39. 
The breakdown of income must include details of revenue collected from on-
street parking, off-street parking and Penalty Charge Notices, and 

 a breakdown of how the authority has spent a surplus on its parking account38,40. 
 

Parking spaces 

47. Local authorities must publish the number of marked out controlled on and off-street 
parking spaces within their area, or an estimate of the number of spaces where 
controlled parking space is not marked out in individual parking bays or spaces. 

 

Senior salaries 

48. Local authorities are already required to publish, under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 (Statutory Instrument 2015/234)41: 

 the number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least £50,000 
in brackets of £5,000 

 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose salary is 
at least £50,000, and 

 employees whose salaries are £150,000 or more must also be identified by 
name. 

 
49. In addition to this requirement, local authorities must place a link on their website to 

these published data or place the data itself on their website, together with a list of 
responsibilities (for example, the services and functions they are responsible for, 
budget held and number of staff) and details of bonuses and ‘benefits-in-kind’, for all 
employees whose salary exceeds £50,000. The key differences between the 
requirements under this Code and the Regulations referred to above is the addition of a 
list of responsibilities, the inclusion of bonus details for all senior employees whose 
salary exceeds £50,000 and publication of the data on the authority’s website. 

 

                                            
 
38

 A parking account kept under section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 as modified by 
Regulation 25 of the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007. 
39

 Local authorities should also have regard to both statutory guidance, The Secretary of State’s Statutory 
Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions, 
http://assets.dft.gov.uk/publications/tma-part-6-cpe-statutory-guidance/betterprkstatutoryguid.pdf, 
and non-statutory operational guidance, Operational Guidance to Local Authorities: Parking Policy and 
Enforcement, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212559/parkingenforcepolicy.pdf 
40

 Section 55 (as amended) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 sets out how local authorities should 
use a surplus on their parking account. Local authorities should breakdown how they have spent a surplus 
on their parking account within the categories set out in section 55. 
41

 For the accounting year 2014-15, the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 (Statutory 
Instrument 2011/817) remain applicable. 

Page 38

http://assets.dft.gov.uk/publications/tma-part-6-cpe-statutory-guidance/betterprkstatutoryguid.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212559/parkingenforcepolicy.pdf


 

21 

 

Constitution 

50. Local authorities are already required to make their Constitution available for inspection 
at their offices under section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000. Local authorities 
must also, under this Code, publish their Constitution on their website. 

 
 

Pay multiple 

51. Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to produce Pay Policy 
Statements, which should include the authority’s policy on pay dispersion – the 
relationship between remuneration of chief officers and the remuneration of other staff. 
Guidance produced under section 40 of that Act42, recommends that the pay multiple is 
included in these statements as a way of illustrating the authority’s approach to pay 
dispersion. 

 
52. Local authorities must, under this Code, publish the pay multiple on their website, 

defined as the ratio between the highest paid taxable earnings for the given year 
(including base salary, variable pay, bonuses, allowances and the cash value of any 
benefits-in-kind) and the median earnings figure of the whole of the authority’s 
workforce. The measure must: 

 cover all elements of remuneration that can be valued (eg. all taxable earnings 
for the given year, including base salary, variable pay, bonuses, allowances and 
the cash value of any benefits-in-kind) 

 use the median earnings figure as the denominator, which should be that of all 
employees of the local authority on a fixed date each year, coinciding with 
reporting at the end of the financial year, and 

 exclude changes in pension benefits, which due to their variety and complexity 
cannot be accurately included in a pay multiple disclosure. 

 

                                            
 
42

 Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under Section 40 of the Localism Act (February 
2012), https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf 

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5956/2091042.pdf


 

22 

Fraud 

53. Local authorities must publish the following information about their counter fraud 
work43: 

 number of occasions they use powers under the Prevention of Social Housing 
Fraud (Power to Require Information) (England) Regulations 201444, or similar 
powers45 

 total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of employees undertaking 
investigations and prosecutions of fraud 

 total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of professionally accredited 
counter fraud specialists 

 total amount spent by the authority on the investigation and prosecution of fraud, 
and 

 total number of fraud cases investigated. 

 

Part 2.3: Information to be published once only 

Waste contracts 

54. Local authorities must publish details of their existing waste collection contracts, in line 
with the details contained in paragraph 32. Local authorities must publish this 
information at the same time as they first publish quarterly procurement information 
under paragraphs 27, 31 and 32 of this Code. 

 

Part 2.4: Method of publication 
55. Public data should be published in a format and under a licence that allows open re-

use, including for commercial and research activities, in order to maximise value to the 
public. The most recent Open Government Licence published by the National Archives 
should be used as the recommended standard. Where any copyright or data ownership 
concerns exist with public data these should be made clear. Data covered by Part 2 of 
this Code must be published in open and machine-readable formats (further 
information about machine-readable formats can be found in Part 3.2). 

                                            
 
43

 The definition of fraud is as set out by the Audit Commission in Protecting the Public Purse. 
44

 S.I. 2014/899. 
45

 For example, the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 
Regulations 2013 gives local authorities the power to require information from listed bodies, during the 
investigation of fraud connected with an application for or award of a reduction under a council tax reduction 
scheme: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/501/contents/made 

Page 40

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/501/contents/made


 

23 

Part 3: Information recommended for 
publication 
 
56. Part 2 of this Code set out details of the minimum data that local authorities must 

publish. The Government believes that in principle all data held and managed by local 
authorities should be made available to local people unless there are specific 
sensitivities to doing so. Therefore, it encourages local authorities to go much further in 
publishing the data they hold, recognising the benefits of sharing that data for local 
people, more effective service delivery and better policy making. Part 3 of this Code 
sets out details of data that the Government recommends local authorities publish. 

 

Part 3.1: Information recommended for publication 
57. Data covered by this section includes: 

 expenditure data (see paragraph 58) 

 procurement information (see paragraphs 59 and 60) 

 local authority land (see paragraph 61 and 62) 

 parking spaces (see paragraphs 63 and 64) 

 organisation chart (see paragraph 65) 

 grants to voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations (see 
paragraphs 66 and 67), and 

 fraud (see paragraph 68). 

 

Expenditure data  

58. It is recommended that local authorities go further than the minimum publication 
requirements set out in Part 2 and: 

 publish information on a monthly instead of quarterly basis, or ideally, as soon 
as it becomes available and therefore known to the authority (commonly known 
as ‘real-time’ publication) 

 publish details of all transactions that exceed £250 instead of £500. For each 
transaction the details that should be published remain as in paragraph 29 

 publish all transactions on all corporate credit cards, charge cards and 
procurements, including those that are not a Government Procurement Card. 
For each transaction the details that should be published remain as set out in 
paragraph 30 

 publish the total amount spent on remuneration over the period being reported 
on, and 

 classify expenditure using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy Service Reporting Code of Practice to enable comparability 
between local authorities. 

Page 41



 

24 

Procurement information 

59. It is recommended that local authorities place on Contracts Finder46, as well as any 
other local portal, every invitation to tender or invitation to quote for contracts to provide 
goods and/or services with a value that exceeds £10,000. For each invitation, the 
details that should be published are the same as those set out in paragraph 31. 

 
60. It is recommended that local authorities should go further than the minimum publication 

requirements set out in Part 2 and publish: 

 information on a monthly instead of quarterly basis, or ideally, as soon as it is 
generated and therefore becomes available (commonly known as ‘real-time’ 
publication) 

 every invitation to tender for contracts to provide goods and/or services with a 
value that exceeds £500 instead of £5,000. The details that should be published 
are the same as those set out in paragraph 31 

 details of invitations to quote where there has not been a formal invitation to 
tender. The details that should be published are the same as those set out in 
paragraph 31 

 all contracts in their entirety where the value of the contract exceeds £5,00047  

 company registration number at Companies House 

 details of invitations to tender or invitations to quote that are likely to be issued in 
the next twelve months. The details that should be published are the same as 
those set out in paragraph 31 

 details of the geographical (eg. by ward) coverage of contracts entered into by 
the local authority 

 details of performance against contractual key performance indicators, and 

 information disaggregated by voluntary and community sector category (eg. 
whether it is registered with Companies House, Charity or Charitable 
Incorporated Organisation, Community Interest Company, Industrial and 
Provident Society, Housing Association, etc). 

 
Local authority land 

61. It is recommended that local authorities should go further than the minimum publication 
requirements set out in Part 2 and publish information on a monthly instead of annual 
basis, or ideally, as soon as it becomes available and therefore known to the authority 
(commonly known as ‘real-time’ publication). It is also recommended that local 
authorities should publish all the information possible on Electronic Property 
Information Mapping Service. 

 

                                            
 
46 

Documentation for all procurements valued at over £10,000 is stored on Contracts Finder for public 
viewing as part of government's transparency commitment. https://online.contractsfinder.businesslink.gov.uk/ 
47

 Where a contract runs into several hundreds of pages or more, a local authority should publish a summary 
of the contract or sections of the contract, if this would be more helpful to local people and businesses. 

Page 42

https://online.contractsfinder.businesslink.gov.uk/


 

25 

62. It is further recommended that local authorities also go further than the minimum 
publication requirements set out in paragraph 37 by publishing, alongside them in one 
place, the following information: 

 size of the asset measured in Gross Internal Area (m2) for buildings or hectares 
for land, in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Code of 
Measuring Practice. The Gross Internal Area is the area of a building measured 
to the internal face of the perimeter walls at each floor level. Local authorities 
using Net Internal Area (m2) should convert measurements to Gross Internal 
Area using appropriate conversion factors48 and state the conversion factor used 

 services offered from the asset using the services listed in the Effective Services 
Delivery government service function list 
http://doc.esd.org.uk/FunctionList/1.00.html (listing up to five main services) 

 reason for holding asset such as, it is occupied by the local authority or it is 
providing a service on the authority’s behalf, it is an investment property, it 
supports economic development (eg. provision of small businesses or incubator 
space), it is surplus to the authority’s requirements, it is awaiting development, it 
is under construction, it provides infrastructure or it is a community asset 

 whether or not the asset is either one which is an asset in the authority’s 
ownership that is listed under Part 5 Chapter 3 of the Localism Act 2011 (assets 
of community value) and/or an asset which the authority is actively seeking to 
transfer to the community 

 total building operation (revenue) costs as defined in  the corporate value for 
money indicators for public services49 

 required maintenance - the cost to bring the property from its present state up to 
the state reasonably required by the authority to deliver the service and/or to 
meet statutory or contract obligations and maintain it at that standard. This 
should exclude improvement projects but include works necessary to comply 
with new legislation (eg. asbestos and legionella) 

 functional suitability rating using the scale: 

o good – performing well and operating efficiently (supports the needs of staff 
and the delivery of services) 

o satisfactory – performing well but with minor problems (generally supports 
the needs of staff and the delivery of services) 

o poor – showing major problems and/or not operating optimally (impedes the 
performance off staff and/or the delivery of services) 

o unsuitable – does not support or actually impedes the delivery of services 

 energy performance rating as stated on the Display Energy Certificate under the 
Energy Performance of Buildings (England and Wales) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended). 

                                            
 
48

 Local authorities are not expected to re-measure buildings. Research undertaken for the Scottish 
Government offers one method of converting Net Internal Area to Gross Internal Area and can be found at: 
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/217736/0121532.pdf  
49

 http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/2010-11-Estates-Management.pdf (See page 17). 

Page 43

http://doc.esd.org.uk/FunctionList/1.00.html
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/217736/0121532.pdf
http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/2010-11-Estates-Management.pdf


 

26 

Parking spaces 

63. It is recommended that local authorities should publish the number of: 

 free parking spaces available in the local authority’s area and which are provided 
directly by the local authority, and 

 parking spaces where charges apply that are available in the local authority’s area 
and which are provided directly by the local authority. 

 
64. Where parking space is not marked out in individual parking bays or spaces, local 

authorities should estimate the number of spaces available for the two categories in 
paragraph 63. 

 

Organisation chart 

65. It is recommended that local authorities should go further than the minimum publication 
requirements set out in Part 2 and publish: 

 charts including all employees of the local authority whose salary exceeds 
£50,000 

 the salary band for each employee included in the chart(s), and 

 information about current vacant posts, or signpost vacancies that are going to 
be advertised in the future. 

 

Grants to voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations 

66. It is recommended that local authorities should go further than the minimum publication 
requirements set out in Part 2 and publish information on a monthly instead of annual 
basis where payments are made more frequently than a single annual payment, or 
ideally, as soon as the data becomes available and therefore known to the authority 
(commonly known as ‘real-time’ publication). 

 
67. It is further recommended that local authorities publish information disaggregated by 

voluntary and community sector category (eg. whether it is registered with Companies 
House, charity or charitable incorporated organisation, community interest company, 
industrial and provident society, housing association, etc). 

 

Fraud 
 
68. It is recommended that local authorities should go further than the minimum publication 

requirements set out in Part 2 and publish: 

 total number of cases of irregularity investigated 

 total number of occasions on which a) fraud and b) irregularity was identified 

 total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the irregularity that was detected, and 

 total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the irregularity that was recovered. 

Page 44



 

27 

Part 3.2: Method of publication 
 

69. The Government endorses the five step journey to a fully open format: 

One star Available on the web (whatever format) but with an open license 

Two star As for one star plus available as machine-readable structured data 

(eg. Excel instead of an image scan of a table) 

Three star As for two star plus use a non-proprietary format (eg. CSV and 

XML) 

Four star All of the above plus use open standards from the World Wide 

Web Consortium (such as RDF and SPARLQL21) 

Five star All the above plus links an organisation’s data to others’ data to 

provide context 

 
70. The Government recommends that local authorities publish data in three star formats 

where this is suitable and appropriate50, alongside open and machine-readable format, 
within six months of this Code being issued. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Shehla Husain 
A Senior Civil Servant in the Department for Communities and Local 
Government 
 
Department for Communities and Local Government 
27 February 2015 

                                            
 
50

 Statistical data, lists etc should be capable of being published in this format but others (eg. organisation 
charts) may be more difficult. 

Page 45



 

28 

 Annex A: Table summarising all information to be published  
     
Information 

title 
Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

Expenditure 
exceeding 
£500 

Quarterly publication 
Publish details of each individual item of expenditure that 
exceeds £500, including items of expenditure, consistent with 
Local Government Association guidance, such as: 

 individual invoices 

 grant payments 

 expense payments 

 payments for goods and services 

 grants 

 grant in aid 

 rent 

 credit notes over £500 

 transactions with other public bodies. 
 
For each individual item of expenditure the following information 
must be published: 

 date the expenditure was incurred 

 local authority department which incurred the expenditure 

 beneficiary 

 summary of the purpose of the expenditure 

 amount 

 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered 

 merchant category (eg. computers, software etc). 
 
 
 
 

 Publish information on a monthly instead of 
quarterly basis, or ideally, as soon as it 
becomes available and therefore known to 
the authority (commonly known as ‘real-
time’ publication). 

 Publish details of all transactions that 
exceed £250 instead of £500. For each 
transaction the details that should be 
published remain as set out in paragraph 
29. 

 publish the total amount spent on 
remuneration over the period being reported 
on. 

 classify purpose of expenditure using the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy Service Reporting Code of 
Practice to enable comparability between 
local authorities. 

P
age 46



 

29 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

Government 
Procurement 
Card 
transactions 

Quarterly publication 
Publish details of every transaction on a Government 
Procurement Card. For each transaction, the following details 
must be published: 

 date of the transaction 

 local authority department which incurred the expenditure 

 beneficiary 

 amount 

 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered 

 summary of the purpose of the expenditure 

 merchant category (eg. computers, software etc). 
 
 

 Publish all transactions on all corporate 
credit cards, charge cards and 
procurements, including those that are not a 
Government Procurement Card. For each 
transaction the details that should be 
published remain as set out in paragraph 
30. 

 

Procurement 
information 

Quarterly publication 
Publish details of every invitation to tender for contracts to 
provide goods and/or services with a value that exceeds £5,000. 
For each invitation, the following details must be published: 

 reference number 

 title 

 description of the goods and/or services sought 

 start, end and review dates 

 local authority department responsible. 
 
Quarterly publication 
Publish details of any contract, commissioned activity, purchase 
order, framework agreement and any other legally enforceable 
agreement with a value that exceeds £5,000. For each contract, 
the following details must be published: 

 reference number 

 title of agreement 

 local authority department responsible 

Place on Contracts Finder, as well as any other 
local portal, every invitation to tender or 
invitation to quote for contracts to provide goods 
and/or services with a value that exceeds 
£10,000. 
 
Publish:  

 information on a monthly instead of 
quarterly basis, or ideally, as soon as it is 
generated and therefore becomes available 
(commonly known as ‘real-time’ publication) 

 every invitation to tender for contracts to 
provide goods and/or services with a value 
that exceeds £500 instead of £5,000 

 details of invitations to quote where there 
has not been a formal invitation to tender 

 all contracts in their entirety where the value 
of the contract exceeds £5,000  

 

P
age 47



 

30 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

 description of the goods and/or services being provided 

 supplier name and details 

 sum to be paid over the length of the contract or the 
estimated annual spending or budget for the contract 

 Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered 

 start, end and review dates 

 whether or not the contract was the result of an invitation to 
quote or a published invitation to tender 

 whether or not the supplier is a small or medium sized 
enterprise and/or a voluntary or community sector 
organisation and where it is, provide the relevant registration 
number. 

 

 company registration number at Companies 
House 

 details of invitations to tender or invitations 
to quote that are likely to be issued in the 
next twelve months 

 details of the geographical (eg. by ward) 
coverage of contracts entered into by the 
local authority 

 details of performance against contractual 
key performance indicators 

 information disaggregated by voluntary and 
community sector category (eg. whether it is 
registered with Companies House, charity or 
charitable incorporated organisation, 
community interest company, industrial and 
provident society, housing association, etc). 

Local 
authority land 

Annual publication 
Publish details of all land and building assets including: 

 all service and office properties occupied or controlled by 
user bodies, both freehold and leasehold 

 any properties occupied or run under Private Finance 
Initiative contracts 

 all other properties they own or use, for example, hostels, 
laboratories, investment properties and depots 

 garages unless rented as part of a housing tenancy 
agreement 

 surplus, sublet or vacant properties 

 undeveloped land 

 serviced or temporary offices where contractual or actual 
occupation exceeds three months 

 all future commitments, for example under an agreement for 
lease, from when the contractual commitment is made. 

Publish information on a monthly instead of 
annual basis, or ideally, as soon as it becomes 
available and therefore known to the authority 
(commonly known as ‘real-time’ publication). 
It is also recommended that local authorities 
should publish all the information possible on 
Electronic Property Information Mapping 
Service. 
Publish the following additional information: 

 the size of the asset measured in Gross 
Internal Area (m2) for buildings or hectares 
for land, in accordance with the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors Code of 
Measuring Practice. The Gross Internal 
Area is the area of a building measured to 
the internal face of the perimeter walls at 

P
age 48



 

31 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

However, information about the following land and building assets 
are to be excluded from publication: 

 rent free properties provided by traders (such as information 
booths in public places or ports) 

 operational railways and canals 

 operational public highways (but any adjoining land not 
subject to public rights should be included) 

 assets of national security 

 information deemed inappropriate for public access as a 
result of data protection and/or disclosure controls (eg. such 
as refuge houses). 

 
Information on social housing is also excluded from this specific 
dataset. 

 
For each land or building asset, the following information must be 
published together in one place: 

 Unique Property Reference Number 

 Unique asset identity - the local reference identifier used by 
the local body, sometimes known as local name or building 
block. There should be one entry per asset or user/owner (eg. 
on one site there could be several buildings or in one building 
there could be several users, floors/rooms etc – where this is 
the case, each of these will have a separate asset identity). 
This must include the original reference number from the data 
source plus authority code 

 name of the building/land or both 

 street number or numbers - any sets of 2 or more numbers 
should be separated with the ‘-‘ symbol (eg. 10-15 London 
Road) 

 street name – this is the postal road address 

 post town 

each floor level. Local authorities using Net 
Internal Area (m2) should convert 
measurements to Gross Internal Area using 
appropriate conversion factors and state the 
conversion factor used 

 the services offered from the asset, using 
the services listed in the Effective Services 
Delivery government service function list 
http://doc.esd.org.uk/FunctionList/1.00.html 
(listing up to five main services) 

 the reason for holding asset such as, it is 
occupied by the local authority or it is 
providing a service in its behalf, it is an 
investment property, it supports economic 
development (eg. provision of small 
businesses or incubator space), it is surplus 
to the authority’s requirements, it is awaiting 
development, it is under construction, it 
provides infrastructure or it is a community 
asset 

 whether or not the asset is either one which 
is an asset in the authority’s ownership that 
is listed under Part 5 Chapter 3 of the 
Localism Act 2011 (assets of community 
value) and/or an asset where the authority is 
actively seeking transfer to the community 

 total building operation (revenue) costs as 
defined in  the corporate value for money 
indicators for public services 

 
 
 

P
age 49



 

32 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

 United Kingdom postcode 

 map reference – local authorities may use either Ordnance 
Survey or ISO6709  systems to identify the location of an 
asset, but must make clear which is being used. Where an 
Ordnance Survey mapping system is used (the grid system) 
then assets will be identified using Eastings before Northings. 
Where geocoding in accordance with ISO 6709 is being used 
to identify the centre point of the asset location then that 
reference must indicate its ISO coordinates  

 whether the local authority owns the freehold or a lease for 
the asset and for whichever category applies, the local 
authority must list all the characteristics that apply from the 
options given below:  

         for freehold assets: 
o occupied by the local authority 
o ground leasehold 
o leasehold 
o licence 
o vacant (for vacant properties, local authorities should 

not publish the full address details and should only 
publish the first part of the postcode) 

         for leasehold assets: 
o occupied by the local authority 
o ground leasehold 
o sub leasehold 
o licence 

         for other assets: 
o free text description eg. rights of way, access etc. 

 whether or not the asset is land only (without permanent 
buildings) or it is land with a permanent building. 

 
 

 required maintenance - the cost to bring the 
property from its present state up to the 
state reasonably required by the authority to 
deliver the service and/or to meet statutory 
or contract obligations and maintain it at that 
standard. This should exclude improvement 
projects but include works necessary to 
comply with new legislation (eg. asbestos 
and legionella) 

 functional suitability rating using the scale: 
o good – performing well and operating 

efficiently (supports the needs of staff 
and the delivery of services) 

o satisfactory – performing well but with 
minor problems (generally supports 
the needs of staff and the delivery of 
services) 

o poor – showing major problems 
and/or not operating optimally 
(impedes the performance off staff 
and/or the delivery of services) 

o unsuitable – does not support or 
actually impedes the delivery of 
services 

 energy performance rating as stated on the 
Display Energy Certificate under the Energy 
Performance of Buildings (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

P
age 50



 

33 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

Social 
housing 
asset value 

Annual publication 
Publish details on the value of social housing assets within local 
authorities’ Housing Revenue Account. 
 
Information to be published using the specified value bands and 
postal sector: 

 total number of homes 

 the aggregate value and mean value of the dwellings for both 
existing use value (social housing) and market value, and 

 percentage of homes that are vacant and that are tenanted. 
 
Information to be published at a general level:  

 an explanation of the difference between the tenanted sale 
value of homes within the Housing Revenue Account and 
their market sale value, and 

 an assurance that the publication of this information is not 
intended to suggest that tenancies should end to realise the 
market value of properties. 

 
Other residential tenanted properties that the authority may hold 
within their General Fund are excluded from this specific dataset, 
as is information on other building assets or land that local 
authorities hold within their Housing Revenue Account. 

 

Grants to 
voluntary, 
community 
and social 
enterprise 
organisations 

Annual publication 
Publish details of all grants to voluntary, community and social 
enterprise organisations. This can be achieved by either: 

 tagging and hence specifically identifying transactions which 
relate to voluntary, community and social enterprise 
organisations within published data on expenditure over £500 
or published procurement information, or 

 by publishing a separate list or register. 
 

 Publish information on a monthly instead of 
annual basis where payments are made 
more frequently than a single annual 
payment, or ideally, as soon as the data 
becomes available and therefore known to 
the authority (commonly known as ‘real-
time’ publication). 

 
 

P
age 51



 

34 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

For each identified grant, the following information must be 
published as a minimum: 

 date the grant was awarded 

 time period for which the grant has been given 

 local authority department which awarded the grant 

 beneficiary 

 beneficiary’s registration number 

 summary of the purpose of the grant 

 amount 

 information disaggregated by voluntary and 
community sector category (eg. whether it is 
registered with Companies House, charity or 
charitable incorporated organisation, 
community interest company, industrial and 
provident society, housing association etc). 

Organisation 
chart 

Annual publication 
Publish an organisation chart covering staff in the top three levels 
of the organisation. The following information must be included 
for each member of staff included in the chart: 

 grade 

 job title 

 local authority department and team 

 whether permanent or temporary staff 

 contact details 

 salary in £5,000 brackets, consistent with the details 
published for Senior Salaries 

 salary ceiling (the maximum salary for the grade). 

Local authorities should publish: 

 charts including all employees in the local 
authority whose salary exceeds £50,000 

 the salary band for each employee included 
in the chart(s) 

 information about current vacant posts, or 
signpost vacancies that are going to be 
advertised in the future. 

Trade union 
facility time 

Annual publication 
Publish the following information:  

 total number (absolute number and full time equivalent) of 
staff who are union representatives (including general, 
learning and health and safety representatives) 

 total number (absolute number and full time equivalent) of 
union representatives who devote at least 50 per cent of their 
time to union duties 

 names of all trade unions represented in the local authority 
 

 

P
age 52



 

35 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

 a basic estimate of spending on unions (calculated as the 
number of full time equivalent days spent on union duties 
multiplied by the average salary), and 

 a basic estimate of spending on unions as a percentage of 
the total pay bill (calculated as the number of full time 
equivalent days spent on union duties multiplied by the 
average salary divided by the total pay bill). 

 

Parking 
account 

Annual publication 
Publish on their website, or place a link on their website to this 
data published elsewhere: 

 a breakdown of income and expenditure on the authority’s 
parking account. The breakdown of income must include 
details of revenue collected from on-street parking, off-street 
parking and Penalty Charge Notices 

 a breakdown of how the authority has spent a surplus on its 
parking account. 

 

Parking 
spaces 

Annual publication 
Publish the number of marked out controlled on and off-street 
parking spaces within their area, or an estimate of the number of 
spaces where controlled parking space is not marked out in 
individual parking bays or spaces. 

Local authorities should publish the number of: 

 free parking spaces available in the local 
authority’s area and which are provided 
directly by the local authority, and 

 parking spaces where charges apply that are 
available in the local authority’s area and 
which are provided directly by the local 
authority. 

  
Where parking space is not marked out in 
individual parking bays or spaces, local 
authorities should estimate the number of 
spaces available for the two categories. 
 

P
age 53



 

36 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

Senior 
salaries 

Annual publication 
Local authorities must place a link on their website to the 
following data or must place the data itself on their website: 

 the number of employees whose remuneration in that year 
was at least £50,000 in brackets of £5,000 

 details of remuneration and job title of certain senior 
employees whose salary is at least £50,000 

 employees whose salaries are £150,000 or more must also 
be identified by name. 

 a list of responsibilities (for example, the services and 
functions they are responsible for, budget held and number of 
staff) and details of bonuses and ‘benefits in kind’, for all 
employees whose salary exceeds £50,000.  

 

Constitution Annual publication 
Local authorities must publish their Constitution on their website. 

 

Pay multiple Annual publication 
Publish the pay multiple on their website defined as the ratio 
between the highest taxable earnings for the given year (including 
base salary, variable pay, bonuses, allowances and the cash 
value of any benefits-in-kind) and the median earnings figure of 
the whole of the authority’s workforce. The measure must: 

 cover all elements of remuneration that can be valued (eg. all 
taxable earnings for the given year, including base salary, 
variable pay, bonuses, allowances and the cash value of any 
benefits-in-kind) 

 use the median earnings figure as the denominator, which 
should be that of all employees of the local authority on a 
fixed date each year, coinciding with reporting at the end of 
the financial year 

 exclude changes in pension benefits, which due to their 
variety and complexity cannot be accurately included in a pay 
multiple disclosure. 

 

P
age 54



 

37 

Information 
title 

Information which must be published Information recommended for publication 

Fraud Annual publication 
Publish the following information: 

 number of occasions they use powers under the Prevention of 
Social Housing Fraud (Power to Require Information) 
(England) Regulations 2014, or similar powers 

 total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of employees 
undertaking investigations and prosecutions of fraud 

 total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of 
professionally accredited counter fraud specialists 

 total amount spent by the authority on the investigation and 
prosecution of fraud 

 total number of fraud cases investigated. 

Local authorities should publish: 

 total number of cases of irregularity 
investigated 

 total number of occasions on which a) fraud 
and b) irregularity was identified 

 total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) 
the irregularity that was detected, and 

 total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) 
the irregularity that was recovered. 

Waste 
contracts 

One-off publication 
Local authorities must publish details of their existing waste 
collection contracts, in line with the details contained in 
paragraphs 32 of the Code, at the point they first publish quarterly 
contract information under Part 2 of this Code. 

 P
age 55



 

38 

Annex B: Detecting and preventing fraud  
 
Tackling fraud is an integral part of ensuring that tax-payers money is used to protect 
resources for frontline services. The cost of fraud to local government is estimated at £2.1 
billion a year. This is money that can be better used to support the delivery of front line 
services and make savings for local tax payers. 
 
A culture of transparency should strengthen counter-fraud controls. The Code makes it 
clear that fraud can thrive where decisions are not open to scrutiny and details of 
spending, contracts and service provision are hidden from view. Greater transparency, and 
the provisions in this Code, can help combat fraud. 
 
Sources of support to tackle fraud include: 
 
Fighting Fraud Locally, The Local Government Fraud Strategy 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118508/stra
tegy-document.pdf), was drafted by the National Fraud Authority and CIPFA (the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy). The document calls for the 
adoption of a tougher approach to tackle fraud against local authorities. The strategy is 
part of a wider collaboration on counter fraud and is the local authority contribution to the 
national fraud strategy – Fighting Fraud Together 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nfa-fighting-fraud-together) which 
encompasses both the public and private sectors response to fraud in the UK.  
 
Local authorities should use a risk management approach with strong internal control 
arrangements to reduce the risk of any payment fraud as a result of publishing public data. 
Local authorities should refer to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
(http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/code-of-practice). The document sets 
out a step by step toolkit to tackling fraud: identifying and understanding your fraud risks 
and potential exposure to fraud loss; assessing current resilience to fraud; evaluating the 
organisation’s ability to respond to potential or identified fraud; and developing a strategy. 
Developing an anti-fraud culture is an important part of improving resilience; the benefits of 
improving resilience to fraud include reduced exposure to fraud and an organisation that is 
better able to identify attempted frauds or vulnerabilities. 
 
The National Fraud Authority have produced a guide on procurement fraud, Procurement 
Fraud in the Public Sector,  
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118460/pro
curement-fraud-public-sector.pdf) which deals with the whole process, from bidding during 
the pre-contract award phase through to false invoicing in the post-contract award phase. 
 
There are some specific steps local authorities can take to prevent procurement fraud. 
These might include: 

 only accepting requests for changes to supplier standing data in writing 

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118508/strategy-document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118508/strategy-document.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nfa-fighting-fraud-together
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118460/procurement-fraud-public-sector.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/118460/procurement-fraud-public-sector.pdf


 

39 

 seeking confirmation from the supplier that the requested changes are genuine, 
using contact details held on the vendor data file or from previous and legitimate 
correspondence; and not contacting the supplier via contact details provided on the 
letter requesting the changes 

 ensuring that there is segregation of duties between those who authorise changes 
and those who make them 

 only authorising changes when all appropriate checks have been carried out with 
legitimate suppliers and only making the changes when the proper authorisations to 
do so have been given 

 maintaining a suitable audit trail to ensure that a history of all transactions and 
changes is kept 

 producing reports of all changes made to supplier standing data and checking that 
the changes were valid and properly authorised before any payments are made 

 carrying out standard checks on invoices before making any payments, and 

 regularly verifying the correctness of standing data with suppliers. 

Page 57



 

40 

Annex C: Social housing asset data to be published 
Postal 
Sector 

Valuation Band 
Range 

Intervening bands Dwellings value Tenure status 

   Total number 
social housing 
dwellings  

EUV-SH 
Values 

Market 
Values 

% occupied 
dwellings 

% vacant 
dwellings 

    Total Average Total Average    

PO1 1** <£50,000 - £99,999 <£50,000        

  £50,000 - £59,999        

  £60,000 - £69,999        

  £70,000 - £79,999        

  £80,000 - £89,999        

  £90,000 - £99,999        

 £100,000 - £299,999 £100,000 - £119,999        

  £120,000 - £139,999        

  £140,000 - £159,999        

  £160,000 - £179,999        

  £180,000 - £199,999        

  £200,000 - £219,999        

  £220,000 - £239,999        

  £240,000 - £259,999        

  £260,000 - £279,999        

  £280,000 - £299,999        

 £300,000 - £499,999 £300,000 - £349,999        

  £350,000 - £399,999        

  £400,000 - £449,999        

  £450,000 - £499,999        

 £500,000 - £999,999 £500,000 - £599,999        

  £600,000 - £699,999        

  £700,000 - £799,999        

  £800,000 - £899,999        

  £900,000 - £999,999        

 £1m - £2,999,999> £1,000,000 - £1,499,999        

  £1,500,000 - £1,999,999         

  £2,000,000 - £2,499,999        

  £2,500,000 - £2,999,999        

  £3,000,000>        

P
age 58



12.5 Amendments to a motion

A Member may move an amendment to a motion and explain the purpose of it.  The 
amendment must be seconded by another Member.  The Chair may require that the 
amendment be written out before allowing the matter to be discussed.  An amendment 
must be relevant to the motion and shall either be:

12.5.1 To leave out words;

12.5.2 To leave out words and add others; or

12.5.3 To insert or add words.

The time spent debating an amendment to a motion shall count within the overall two 
hours allocation time for motions.

No amendment shall be allowed which is contrary to the motion before the Council or 
has the effect of introducing a new proposal.  

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.  No further 
amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been dealt with.  

If an amendment is rejected, different amendments may be proposed on the original 
motion.  

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original 
motion.  This becomes the substantive motion on which any further amendments are 
moved.  

After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will advise the meeting of the content 
of the amended motion before accepting any further amendments. 

12.6 When a Member may speak again

When a Member has spoken on a motion they may not, without the consent of the 
Chair, speak again during the debate, except:

12.6.1 To speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;

12.6.2 To move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they 
last spoke;

12.6.3 If the first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to 
speak on the main issue, whether or not the amendment was carried;

12.6.4 To exercise the right to reply;

12.6.5 On a point of order; 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



12.6.6 By way of personal explanation.

12.7 Alteration of motion by the proposer

With the consent of the full Council agreed without discussion, a Member may:

12.7.1 Alter a motion of which they have given notice; or

12.7.2 With the consent of the seconder alter a motion that has been moved 
without notice.  

In either case, the alteration to the motion must be worded as an 
acceptable amendment in accordance with Procedural Standing Order 
12.5.

Page 60



10. NOTICES OF MOTION

10.1 Notice

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under these Procedural 
Standing Orders and unless the Chair is of the opinion that the motion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, written notice of motions for discussion at full 
Council meetings must be delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 10 a.m. five 
clear working days before the date of the meeting.  Motions are not considered at the 
first annual meeting of a new Council. The Chief Executive will maintain a record of all 
motions submitted and the public may inspect that record except in respect of motions 
considered in the absence of the press and public.  

10.2 Motion set out in the agenda for a meeting

10.2.1 Motions for which proper notice has been given under this Procedural 
Standing Order will be listed on the agenda in the order in which they are 
received;  

10.2.2 Unless the Chair, in consultation with Group Leaders, decides otherwise, 
subject to Procedural Standing Order 10.8, there will be no time 
restrictions on motions from each political group (for the purposes of this 
Procedural Standing Order 10.2.2 only, all independent Councillors are 
considered as a political group); 

10.2.3 If the Chief Executive considers that such a motion qualifies to be 
considered by the full Council in the absence of the press and public, the 
Chief Executive may decide appropriate agenda wording to avoid public 
disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

10.3 Scope

Motions must be about matters which are related to the responsibilities of the Council 
or which affect the County.  The Chair’s decision on whether or not a motion is relevant 
to the responsibilities of Council will be final.

10.4 Subject to Procedural Standing Order 10.9, unless the Chair, in consultation with 
Group Leaders, decides otherwise a motion that has been properly notified and which 
has been moved and seconded will be discussed by full Council at the meeting for 
which notice has been given (excluding the first annual meeting of a new Council).

10.5 If the motion relates to an executive function and whether or not it is discussed at full 
Council at that time, full Council may:

10.5.1 Refer the motion to Cabinet who will consider the matter in the light of any 
views expressed by the full Council and advise the full Council of its 
decision; or

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



10.5.2 Refer the motion to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee who 
will consider the matter in the light of any views expressed by the full 
Council.  Following consideration, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will refer the motion to Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member 
who will consider the matter in the light of any views expressed by full 
Council and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and advise the full 
Council of its or their decision.  

10.6 If a motion is referred by full Council to the Cabinet or another Council body (or both 
under Procedural Standing Order 10.5.2) the proposer and seconder of the motion may 
attend the meeting of the Cabinet or other Council body (or both) and speak to the 
motion but not vote unless a Member of the Cabinet or other Council body.  

10.7 If a motion is referred by full Council to the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member 
(either directly or via an Overview and Scrutiny Committee under Procedural Standing 
Order 10.5.2) the proposer and seconder of the motion may attend the meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny meeting and speak to the motion but not vote (unless a Member 
of the Overview and Scrutiny meeting) and/or submit in writing to the Leader of the 
Council or Cabinet Member, their views on the motion

10.8 The total period of time spent on motions on the day of a meeting shall not exceed two 
hours. However, debate on motions may be extended beyond the two hour limit to 
allow those members who have indicated to the Chair, before the end of the two hour 
period, their intention to speak on the motion being debated at that time. The mover of 
the motion will then have the opportunity to sum up and the vote will take place. This 
Procedural Standing Order may not be suspended.

10.9 In the event a motion has not been discussed at the meeting for which notice has been 
given, that notice of motion shall then be void.

11. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE

11.1 The following motions may be moved without notice:

11.1.1 To appoint a Chair of the meeting;

11.1.2 Concerning the accuracy of the minutes;

11.1.3 To change the order of business in the agenda;

11.1.4 To appoint a Council body or Member to a Council body arising from an 
item on the agenda for the meeting;

11.1.5 To receive or adopt reports and recommendations of the Cabinet, Leader 
of the Council, Cabinet Member, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or, 
as appropriate, any other Council body or from Officers and any decision 
following from them;

11.1.6 To amend or withdraw a motion but a Member who has already spoken 
on a motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 
motion to this effect;

Page 62



11.1.7 To adjourn the meeting but a Member who has already spoken on a 
motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 
motion to this effect;

11.1.8 To adjourn the debate but a Member who has already spoken on a motion 
being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a motion to 
this effect;

11.1.9 To proceed to the next business but a Member who has already spoken 
on a motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 
motion to this effect;

11.1.10 That the question be put but a Member who has already spoken on a 
motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 
motion to this effect;

11.1.11 By the Chair not to allow another contribution to the debate from a 
Member named or to exclude a Member from the meeting under the 
Procedural Standing Order relating to Members’ conduct;

11.1.12 To exclude the public and media in accordance with the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules;

11.1.13 That the subject of debate be referred to the Cabinet or appropriate 
Council body;

11.1.14 To extend the time limit for speeches;

11.1.15 That a Member be invited to remain at the meeting under the Procedural 
Standing Order relating to Members’ interests;

11.1.16 To suspend a Procedural Standing Order except Procedural Standing 
Order 10.8; 

11.1.17 To give the consent of the Council where such consent is required.

11.2 Standing Order 12 shall not apply to motions moved under this Procedural Standing 
Order, which shall be proposed, seconded and voted upon without debate, save that:  

11.2.1 The proposer of a motion may speak for up to three minutes to explain 
why they have moved their motion; 

111.2.2 If a motion is moved under this Procedural Standing Order during a 
debate, the Chair may consent to one other Member speaking for up to 
three minutes against the motion moved under this Procedural Standing 
Order.

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 65

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Open Contracting Advisory Group
	Open Contracting Advisory Group final report
	Appendix 1 - Council motion
	Appendix 2 - terms of reference
	Appendix 3 - Local Government Transparency Code 2015
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	6 Friendly Amendments
	7 Referrals to Scrutiny Committee
	8 Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution
	Monitoring Officer Change - 12 September 2018


